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1.0 Purpose  
The purpose of this document is to consider Glenholm, 37 Portland Road, Remuera 
against the criteria for evaluation of historic heritage in the Auckland Unitary Plan 
Operative (AUP). 

 
The document has been prepared by Carolyn O’Neil of The Heritage Studio Ltd. on the 
specific instructions of Auckland Council’s Heritage Unit.  It is solely for the use of 
Auckland Council for the purpose it is intended in accordance with the agreed scope of 
work.   
 

2.0 Identification  

Site address  
 
37 Portland Road, Remuera, Auckland 1050 

 
Legal description and 
Certificate of Title (CT) 
identifiers 

 
Pt Lot 5 DP 18802 
NA 632/279 

 
NZTM grid reference 
 

 
NZTM: X coordinate 1759882.08 and Y coordinate 
5917298.391 

 
Ownership 

 
G. Matthews, B. S. Parkinson and C. N. Lord 

 
Auckland Unitary Plan 
zoning  

                                                            
Residential – Single House Zone   

 
Existing scheduled 
item(s) 

 
None 

 
Additional controls 

 
Built Heritage and Character Overlay: Special 
Character Areas Overlay Residential.  
Natural Heritage Overlay: Regionally Significant 
Volcanic Viewshafts and Height Sensitive Areas 
Overlay; and Regionally Significant Volcanic Viewshafts 
Overlay Contours.   
Control: Macroinvertebrate Community Index. 

 
Heritage New Zealand 
Pouhere Taonga 
(HNZPT) listing details 

 
None 

 
Pre-1900 site (HNZPT 
Act 2014 Section 6) 

 
Yes.  The place is the site of human activity before 
1900 but is not recorded as an archaeological site and 
has not been assessed to determine if it has 
archaeological values. 

 
CHI reference(s) 

 
None 

 
NZAA site record 
number(s)  

 
None 

                                                
1 These coordinates were captured from the centre of the building. 
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3.0 Constraints 
This evaluation is based on the information available at the time of the assessment.  
Due to the timeframe presented, historical and contextual research for the evaluation 
was undertaken to an extent that enables the place to be evaluated against the criteria 
but is not exhaustive.  It is important to note that additional research may yield new 
information about the place.   
 
Site visits were conducted from the public realm during May 2018.  Access onto the 
property was not made, so descriptions have been based on photographic records, 
architectural plans and those parts of the building visible at the time of inspection. 
 
This evaluation does not include an assessment of archaeological values or an 
assessment of the importance of the place to Mana Whenua.  Furthermore, this 
evaluation does not include a structural assessment or condition report; any comments 
on the structural integrity or the condition of the building are based on visual 
observations only. 
 
Whilst every effort has been made to obtain copyright permissions for the use of 
images in this document, a number of permissions have yet to be gained. 
 

4.0 Historical summary  
Refer to Appendix 1 for a more comprehensive, fully referenced and illustrated 
historical background and supporting information. 
 
The land upon which Glenholm was built originally formed part of the Ōhinerau block II.  
First auctioned in the 1850s, the block comprised some of the most valuable land in 
Remuera with its scenery and relatively close proximity to town making it an ideal 
location for Auckland’s most prosperous individuals and families.  Archibald Clark 
(1805-1875) and his family were one such example.  A successful entrepreneur, 
establishing the thriving business of Archibald Clark and Son(s), Clark was one of the 
earliest and most prominent merchants to purchase land in Remuera during the 1850s 
and 1860s.  Between 1851-2, he became the first Mayor of Auckland, a position that 
was later taken up by his son, James McCosh Clark (1833-1898), who became 
prominent in the civic and commercial life of mid to late-nineteenth century Auckland.  
Over the subsequent decades, Archibald Clark and his three sons collectively acquired 
over 30 acres of land along Remuera and Portland roads.  During this period of 
economic buoyancy, the family’s landholdings were so extensive that Portland Road 
was originally named Clark’s Road. 
 
In 1867, James Clark gifted one of his allotments (Allotment 31) to his sister, Margaret 
Stevenson (nee. Clark).  Margaret was married to James Young Stevenson, a distant 
relative of renown Scottish writer Robert Louis Stevenson.  He was a partner in the 
family firm of Archibald Clark and Sons, managing the business while his father-in-law 
and brother-in-law pursued their political careers, and took an active role in the 
foundation of St Luke’s Church.  In 1868, the Stevensons built their residence 
‘Glenholm’, which would remain in the family’s ownership for over five decades. 
 
Built on approximately nine acres of land, Glenholm was a substantial two-storey 
timber residence of square plan with a slate roof and wraparound verandah.  The 
house comprised a number of large ground-floor rooms accessed via a central hallway, 
and seven first-floor bedrooms.  Surrounding the residence was a two-acre garden, an 
orchard, tennis court, vinery, a large vegetable garden, an area kept in bush and 
another portion of land used for grazing.  Outbuildings included a washhouse, L-plan 
stable, coach house and a number of sheds.  A reflection of their social status, the 
Stevensons employed a number of people to assist with the running of the estate, 
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including household servants, a coachman/groom and a gardener.  They also hosted 
family weddings and parties, often entertaining other high society families. 
 
On its completion, Glenholm became one of an increasing number of grand Remuera 
residences that were built in park-like settings and were home to some of the most 
influential and prosperous individuals in the country.  This comparatively high number 
of affluent residents and substantial residential estates gave rise to Remuera being 
labelled an “aristocratic suburb”2 by Brett’s Auckland Almanac in 1883.  This sense of 
exclusivity was firmly rooted in the establishment of a number of grand houses 
between the 1850s and 1880s.  Some of the earliest included ‘Ellerslie House’ (1853) 
and ‘The Tower’ (1855), built for illustrious landowners and brothers Robert and David 
Graham respectively, in addition to ‘Remuera Point’ (mid-1850s), ‘Charleville’ (1856), 
‘Woodville’ (1856), ‘The Priory’ (1857), ‘Waimarama’ (c.1860), and ‘Oaklands’ (1860s).  
Each was set in extensive grounds, with ornamental gardens, orchards and stables. 
Following the construction of Glenholm in 1868, several other grand residences were 
erected.  These included ‘Dunholme’ (1870s), ‘Roselle’ (1879), ‘Waitaramoa’ (c.1882), 
‘Buckland House’ (1884), ‘Stradcona’ (1885), ‘The Whare’ (1886) and ‘Woodcroft’ 
(c.1888).  Stradcona and The Whare were also built on Portland Road. 
 
Following the deaths of J. Y. Stevenson in 1878 and Margaret Stevenson in 1910, 
ownership of the estate transferred from Margaret’s brothers (including James McCosh 
Clark) to two of her sons.  In 1915, the first subdivision of the Glenholm estate took 
place.  Subdivided into eight lots, Glenholm occupied Lot 4, which was purchased by 
Trade Commissioner, William Beddoe in 1920.  At the end of 1924, the property was 
advertised for sale as a “substantial house of 11 rooms”3 that benefitted from harbour 
views and park-like grounds.  It was acquired by John Russell several months later, 
who promptly subdivided the property into a further six lots.  Occupying Lot 5 of the 
subdivided land, Glenholm underwent its first recorded changes in 1925, which 
included internal alterations and the erection of a brick and asbestos garage.  In 1926, 
plans were drawn up for the replacement of the building’s wraparound verandah with a 
two-storey porch, illustrating changing architectural preferences at a time when the 
‘bungalow’ had supplanted the ‘villa’ as the residential style of choice.    
 
Glenholm continued to change hands over subsequent decades.  Elizabeth Moorhouse 
acquired the property in 1927 and sold a small portion of the south-eastern corner of 
the site to neighbour, Albert Whyte a year later.  Between 1932 and 1949, the property 
was in the ownership of the friendly society, ‘Trustees for the time being of the Court 
City of Auckland Number 3978 Ancient Order of Foresters’ and for a short period 
during 1940, was advertised as the Alan Moor Resting Home.   
 
In 1949, Glenholm was purchased by Ruby Richards and plans were submitted for the 
conversion of the property into flats.  This approach of utilising larger homes for 
multiple dwellings was becoming increasingly common in the post-Second World War 
era, and had long been established as a popular trend in residential living.  Works 
involved the enclosure of the two-storey porch and its incorporation into the living 
accommodation; the creation of new entrance doors and outdoor steps; and the 
removal of the internal staircase.  In 1965, further alterations were undertaken to 
reduce the number of flats from four to three.  The property was acquired by Auckland 
contractor, Brian O’Connor in 1978 and transferred to David Collinson and his wife, 
Vanessa in 1980. 
 
Soon after their purchase of Glenholm in 1980, the Collinsons, together with their 
architect, developed a scheme to convert the building back into a single-family 

                                                
2 Henry Brett, Brett’s Auckland Almanac, Auckland, 1883, 83, referenced in Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 46.  
This term was also applied to neighbouring Epsom. 
3 Page 4 Advertisements Column 5, New Zealand Herald, Volume LXI, Issue 18894, 17 December 1924, 4, Papers 
Past.  Refer to Appendix 1.5. 
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residence.  The extensive proposals saw the removal of the two-storey porch and 
reinstatement of the front (north) entrance and wraparound verandah – a key feature of 
the building’s original construction; the repair and/or replacement of double-hung sash 
windows (by this time, those on the west elevation were multi-paned) and 
reinstatement of the internal staircase; the blocking up of later openings and removal of 
fire escape steps; the installation of French doors and the erection of a pergola.  The 
interior was arranged to comprise four principal ground floor rooms and five first floor 
bedrooms.  Careful attention to detail resulted in the design of the verandah and steps 
in a manner that, although not identical, closely reflected the building’s original 
construction.  This ‘restoration’ was undertaken at a time when Remuera’s grand old 
houses were coming under increasing threat by infill development pressures, often in 
the guise of townhouses and apartments, which were gradually changing the face of 
one of Auckland’s oldest suburbs.  Several of Remuera’s earliest mansions such as 
Charleville, The Priory, Dunholme, Waimarama, and Stradcona had by this time been 
demolished or destroyed by fire, while others such as The Tower, Waitaramoa, and 
Roselle had been incorporated into school complexes.  
 
Further changes in the 1980s included the erection of a double garage, the installation 
of a swimming pool in the north-east corner of the site, and the construction of a 
conservatory on the east elevation.  Glenholm changed hands a couple of times during 
the mid-1990s.  In 2002, the property was purchased by John and Janet Cousins and 
Hamish Spencer, who went on to carry out alterations to the residence and garage 
over the following couple of years.  In 2003, proposals were drawn up for modifications 
to the garage loft and a small addition to the rear (south) elevation.  The following year, 
further proposals were developed for the erection of a new conservatory (in lieu of the 
existing); the extension of the verandah along the east elevation; the replacement of a 
window on the east and west elevations with French doors; and the renewal of part of 
the roof cladding and roof and first-floor ceiling timbers.  
 
In 2008, current owners, Graham Matthews, Belinda Parkinson and Christopher Lord 
acquired the property.  It remains in use as a single residence. 
 

5.0 Physical description 
A site visit was undertaken on 17 May 2018.  Access onto the property was not made, 
so descriptions have been based on photographic records, architectural plans and 
those parts of the building visible at the time of inspection.  Refer to Appendix 2 and 
Appendix 3 for architectural plans and a full photographic record. 

5.1 Location, context and site 

Glenholm is located within Remuera, one of Auckland’s oldest and most affluent 
residential suburbs.  Remuera is situated approximately four miles to the east of 
Auckland’s CBD and is bisected by Remuera Road, a main thoroughfare that extends 
eastwards along the ridgeline from Newmarket to Meadowbank.  The land to the north 
and south of the main road gradually slopes to the Orakei Basin and Hobson Bay, and 
the southern motorway (State Highway 1) respectively.  Remuera comprises a mixture 
of medium density residential, commercial and mixed-use development, and is 
characterised by its strong collection of residences, many in mature grounds, its 
distinctive landforms that include maunga, ridges and valleys, and its historic 
commercial centres. 
 
The subject site (37 Portland Road) is situated on the north-eastern slopes of Mount 
Hobson, near the southern end and on the eastern side of Portland Road, a long 
residential street that runs roughly south to north connecting Remuera Road with 
Hobson Bay.  The roadside property encompasses an area of land measuring 
approximately 1,598m2 that is bordered by high-level hedging and interspersed with 
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mature trees that partially screen the residence from view.  Positioned along the west 
boundary is a set of close-boarded timber gates flanked by a pair of masonry gate 
posts that provide access onto the site from Portland Road.  A driveway extends from 
the gates along the southern boundary towards the garage and a parking area is 
situated within the western portion of the site.  Neighbouring properties generally 
comprise a mixture of nineteenth and twentieth century residences, with notable early 
examples including The Tower (1855), now part of King’s School at the corner of 
Portland and Remuera roads and The Whare/Wharema (1886) at 34 Portland Road.  
 
 

 
Figure 1: Map showing the subject site (circled) within Remuera, and the location of the suburb within the 
broader region (inset) (Auckland Council GeoMaps). 

 

 
Figure 2: Aerial image showing the location of the subject site – 37 Portland Road – within its Remuera 
context (Auckland Council GeoMaps). 
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The main house occupies the centre of the site and its principal elevation is orientated 
to the north, capturing views out towards the Waitemata Harbour.  The storey-and-a-
half timber garage is situated directly to the south of the house, while the swimming 
pool, partially surrounded by decking, is positioned in the property’s north-eastern 
corner.  The highly vegetated garden comprises a mixture of mature trees, hedging, 
low-level planting and areas of lawn. 
 
 

 

Figure 3: Aerial image showing the CT 
boundary for ‘Glenholm’, which is 
centrally located on the site addressed 
37 Portland Road (Auckland Council 
GeoMaps). 

 

5.2 Exterior 

Glenholm is a large two-storey timber residence that reflects the simplified Georgian 
style that characterised some of New Zealand’s earliest colonial buildings.  Built over 
an extended square plan, the timber-framed structure is clad in plain timber 
weatherboards while its central-gutter hipped roof is covered in corrugated metal.  Two 
prominent corbelled and plastered chimneys with metal cowls extend from the roof.  
Each side of the stacks feature a pattern of recessed rectangles.  An enlarged single-
storey timber addition with roof deck is positioned on the south (rear) elevation, which 
links the principal dwelling with the garage.  The construction of the storey-and-a-half 
double garage matches the main house, with plain timber weatherboards, a corrugated 
metal hipped roof with cupola and dormer windows.  On the southern end of the west 
elevation, a modern timber conservatory with hipped roof and lantern sits adjacent to 
an area of decking which leads to the garden via a set of steps and onto the pool area. 
 
At the north (front) elevation, a set of centrally-positioned steps provide access onto the 
wraparound verandah.  Extending the width of the building’s frontage, the structure 
returns slightly onto the west elevation and runs along the east elevation to the 
conservatory.  The verandah features a concave roof canopy covered with corrugated 
metal that is supported on a series of chamfered timber columns arranged in pairs.  A 
decorative trellis frieze sits beneath the fascia board, which is embellished with plain 
timber brackets that are also incorporated into the balustrading.  Fenestration generally 
comprises a mixture of traditional and modern timber joinery.  A series of double-hung 
sash windows are positioned on each of the four elevations, many of which feature the 
triple-pane sashes with vertical glazing bars that are visible on early photographs of the 
house, while those on the west elevation have later multi-paned units.  Smaller sash 
and casement windows have been incorporated into the east and south elevations and 
into the west elevations of the rear wing and single-storey addition.  The formal 
entrance is centrally positioned on the north elevation and comprises a panelled door, 
side lights and top-light.  The doorway is flanked by two large French doors with side 
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and top-lights, which replaced earlier (at least one bay) windows.  Similar sets of 
French doors are likely to feature on the east elevation, while a smaller set has been 
installed on the west elevation.  Four of the openings on the latter elevation have 
shingle-covered sun-hoods.  Two glazed openings, one with a fan-light, provide access 
onto the rear first-floor deck, which is edged with square balustrading.  Those windows 
and doors visible are framed by profiled timber architraves and plain sills.  Decorative 
eaves brackets sit beneath the soffit of the principal roof and have also been 
incorporated as an embellishment on the rear addition and garage. 
 
 

 

Figure 4: Glenholm viewed from 
Portland Road.  The principal 
building is orientated to the north 
(THS, 2018). 

 

 

Figure 5: The west elevation and 
part south (rear) elevation of 
Glenholm, showing its central-
gutter roof with prominent 
chimneys and first-floor double-
hung sash windows (THS, 2018). 

 

 

Figure 6: Part of the west 
elevation showing the first-floor 
double-hung sash windows and a 
portion of the wraparound 
verandah (THS, 2018). 
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5.3 Interior 

The interior of Glenholm was not accessed, however, records indicate that whilst it has 
undergone changes to accommodate its conversion into flats and back to a single 
residence, its layout, particularly on the ground floor, is not too dissimilar to its original 
arrangement.  Principal ground floor rooms are accessed via a central hallway that 
runs north to south and it is possible that some original fireplaces remain.  The 
staircase, although a reinstatement, is likely to appear similar to the original by way of 
arrangement, fabric and detailing.  
 

5.4 Condition 

Based on visual observations only, Glenholm appears to be in very good condition. 
 

5.5 Use 

The building is currently (2018) in use as a single residence.  
 

5.6 Summary of key features 

§ The building form, with central gutter roof and square frontage. 
§ Two prominent chimneys and eaves brackets. 
§ Principal front door and double-hung sash windows.  Although a number of these 

units have been repaired and/or replaced, they predominantly occupy original 
openings. 

§ The wraparound verandah.  Although it comprises new fabric, it closely reflects 
the original verandah in construction and detailing. 
 

6.0 Comparative analysis  
Refer to Appendix 4 for further details and supporting information. 

When considering Glenholm in relation to other similar or related places within the 
locality, one of the most relevant comparisons is with other large early homes in 
Remuera.  The comparisons made are based on the known places within the locality 
and the level of research permitted within the project timeframe.  It is therefore 
acknowledged that more targeted research leading to a broader comprehensive 
comparison with other heritage places within a more extensive geographic area may 
yield further information.  

Remuera’s early grand homes 

With its sunny northerly slopes and expansive harbour views, Remuera has long been 
a desirable and sought-after place to live.  Since blocks of land were first made 
available for purchase during the late-1840s and 1850s, the suburb has been a magnet 
to some of the country’s most influential and wealthiest individuals.  Large sections of 
land were purchased to create extensive estates, replete with a grand residence, 
ornate garden, orchard and outbuildings that reflected the affluence and social status of 
their owners.  Although Remuera is renowned for its impressive dwellings, it is the 
earliest grand homes built between the 1850s and 1880s that established it (by the 
1890s) as “the wealthiest and most highly ornate suburb of Auckland”4.  
 
Built as a large two-storey residence for a well-regarded family in 1868, Glenholm is 
one of Remuera’s early grand residences.  It was one of well over a dozen such 
                                                
4 R. C. J. Stone, Makers of Fortune: A Colonial Business Community and its Fall, Auckland, Auckland University Press, 
1973, 121, referenced in Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 237. 
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houses constructed during the 1850s-1880s, many of which were regarded as some of 
the ‘finest’, ‘stateliest’ and ‘grandest’ homes in the district, or even Auckland.  Built for 
the city’s social elite, they ranged from the substantial ‘Charleville’ (1856) a castle-like 
masonry building to the imposing ‘Stradcona’ (1885) a multi-storeyed timber structure 
that towered over its neighbours.  Although a key feature of Remuera’s nineteenth 
century landscape, rising population growth and gradual urbanisation during the 
twentieth century put these early estates under increasing pressure.  Almost all were 
subdivided and developed, while the residences themselves were either converted into 
flats, incorporated into school complexes or replaced altogether.  By the latter decades 
of the twentieth century, over half of Remuera’s early grand homes had been 
demolished.   
 
Glenholm is one of eight known buildings that survive as early examples of large 
Remuera homes built during the 1850s-1880s.  The others are Ellerslie House5 (1853), 
The Tower (1855), Oaklands6 (c.1862), Roselle7 (1879), Waitaramoa8 (c.1882), The 
Whare9 (1886) and Woodcroft (c.1888), all of which occupy their original (albeit much 
reduced) sites and are (except Woodcroft) included on Auckland Council’s Schedule of 
Historic Heritage (Schedule).10  Despite their shared association with an early period in 
Remuera’s (and Auckland’s) European settlement, there are apparent differences in 
their architectural styles and current uses.  The most substantial and elaborate of these 
buildings – The Tower, Roselle and Waitaramoa – were purchased between the late 
nineteenth and mid-twentieth centuries for use as schools.  Each has undergone 
varying degrees of alterations and additions to accommodate their change of use and 
subsequent incorporation into much larger educational complexes.  Whereas 
Oaklands, the notable Gothic Revival brick and concrete house, has operated as a 
boutique hotel since the mid-1990s.   
 
As large two-storey timber houses that continue to be used as single residences, 
Ellerslie House, The Whare and Woodcroft can be compared most closely to 
Glenholm.  Each share similarities in their historical and physical development, 
including the subdivision of their once extensive estates, their conversions into multiple 
flats during the mid-twentieth century, and their conversions back into single 
residences by the end of the century.  Architecturally, the earliest building, Ellerslie 
House, compares most closely with Glenholm.  Both are of the colonial Georgian style, 
clad in timber weatherboards, with wraparound verandahs and similar fenestration, 
however, differences are apparent in their proportions and architectural decoration.  
Whilst Glenholm was designed over a square plan with ground floor verandah, Ellerslie 
House features a rectangular plan with two-storey verandah that gives its principal 
elevation a greater horizontal emphasis.  Built two decades after Glenholm, The Whare 
and Woodcroft have overall more elaborate appearances.  Designed in the Regency 
style, The Whare’s most prominent feature is its broad two-storey wraparound 
balconies that, unlike the traditional verandahs at Glenholm, Ellerslie and Woodcroft, 
more closely reflect American architectural influences.  Woodcroft, on the other hand, 
was designed in the Victorian Italianate style, which was becoming increasingly popular 
as the style of choice for affluent New Zealand citizens during late-nineteenth century.  
 
In comparing Ellerslie House, The Whare and Woodcroft with Glenholm, it also became 
apparent they too have undergone alterations and additions during their conversion 
into multiple dwellings and subsequent ‘restorations’ into a single residence.  Given 
their ages and exposure to change, it is to be expected that a degree of historic fabric 
has been lost and some original features reinstated.  Like Glenholm, Ellerslie House’s 
verandah was partially rebuilt, but this was carried out as part of a more extensive 
                                                
5 Later known as ‘Mainston Manor’. 
6 Later known as ‘Cotter House’. 
7 Later known as ‘Wilson House’. 
8 Later known as ‘Mitchelson House’. 
9 Later known as ‘Wharema’. 
10 Details included in Appendix 4. 
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rebuild of its south elevation, which is thought to have resulted in the building’s 
reorientation.  The Whare and Woodcroft appear to have undergone less change, 
although internal modifications and some additions have occurred to both buildings 
over time. 
 

Architectural comparisons 

In comparing Glenholm with these other grand early houses in Remuera, it became 
apparent that its architectural design is the most restrained.  Reflecting the simpler 
Georgian style often associated with colonial buildings in New Zealand, it lacks the 
imposing scale and opulence of some of the other examples.  In this regard, Glenholm 
shares the greatest architectural similarities with the large homesteads/farmhouses, 
often established on extensive landholdings during the mid-late nineteenth century.  In 
the Auckland context, examples include the nearby Glen Orchard, St Heliers Bay 
(c.1850-60s), Burrows House, Parnell (c.1869-70), and Penrose Farm House, Penrose 
(c.1860s or 188511).  Comparable physical qualities include their two-storey timber 
construction, square plans, central-gutter (U-plan) roofs, ground floor wrap-around 
verandahs and eaves bracket detailing. 
 
 

7.0 Significance criteria  
(a) Historical 

The place reflects important or representative aspects of national, regional or 
local history, or is associated with an important event, person, group of people or 
idea or early period of settlement within the nation, region or locality. 

  
Glenholm has considerable historical value for its association with an early period 
of European settlement within the locality and for reflecting important aspects of 
Remuera’s social history and early growth as an exclusive residential suburb 
during the mid to late-nineteenth century. 
 
Built as a large family residence in 1868, Glenholm is of particular value as one of 
a small number of extant places closely linked to the establishment of Remuera 
as a desirable and prosperous suburb of Auckland.  It reflects the presence of 
wealthy individuals and the creation of estate lifestyles in suburban society during 
a period of economic buoyancy in colonial Auckland.  
 
The place is also of interest for illustrating the tradition of transferring property 
within families, evident in the gifting of the estate from one sibling to another and 
the property’s five-decade ownership by members of the prominent Clark/ 
Stevenson family.  By way of this ownership and family ties, Glenholm has an 
important association with well-known citizen and one-time Auckland Mayor, 
James McCosh Clark, and to a lesser extent, his father, successful politician and 
businessman, Archibald Clark, who was one of earliest and most prominent 
merchants to purchase land in Remuera during the 1850s and 1860s.  
 
Overall, the place is of considerable historical value locally. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                
11 The date varies in different sources. 
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(b) Social 

The place has a strong or special association with, or is held in high esteem by, a 
particular community or cultural group for its symbolic, spiritual, commemorative, 
traditional or other cultural value.  
 
Occupying its Portland Road site for 150 years, Glenholm is an important 
physical reminder of the distinctive community identity and way of life associated 
with the development of Remuera as an early, affluent Auckland suburb.  
Documented in a number of local and family histories, the place is also a 
historical marker that the local community may identify with.  However, given that 
it is not known to have a strong or special association with any community or 
cultural groups or to be held in high public esteem, Glenholm is considered to 
have little social value at this time.  

 
The place has little social value locally. 

 
 

(c) Mana Whenua  

The place has a strong or special association with, or is held in high esteem by 
Mana Whenua for its symbolic, spiritual, commemorative, traditional or other 
cultural value. 

 
 

An assessment of the place’s value to Mana Whenua has not been undertaken 
as part of this evaluation. 

 
 

(d) Knowledge 

The place has potential to provide knowledge through scientific or scholarly study 
or to contribute to an understanding of the cultural or natural history of the nation, 
region or locality. 

  
As one of a small number of mid-late nineteenth century houses remaining in 
Remuera and with the existence of well-documented histories about its original 
occupants and their lifestyle, Glenholm has the potential to provide knowledge 
about the functioning of the lives of wealthy suburban households in colonial 
Auckland.  However, the place is unlikely to yield substantial information not 
already available from other places or sources, and as a not highly visible private 
residence, the ability of the place to provide on-site access and/or interpretation 
is also low.  The place is therefore considered to have little knowledge value. 
 
The place has little knowledge value locally. 

 
 

(e) Technology 

The place demonstrates technical accomplishment, innovation or achievement in 
its structure, construction, components or use of materials. 

  
Although representing an early period of construction, Glenholm is not known to 
demonstrate a creative or technical accomplishment, innovation or achievement 
in its structure, construction, components or use of materials.  As such, the place 
is considered to have no technology value. 

 
The place has no technology value. 
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(f) Physical attributes  

The place is a notable or representative example of a type, design or style, 
method of construction, craftsmanship or use of materials or the work of a 
notable architect, designer, engineer or builder.  
 
 Glenholm has considerable physical attributes value as a good representative 
example of a substantial colonial residence that survives in the locality.  Built in 
1868 in the Georgian style, the place suitably demonstrates the architecture 
associated with early New Zealand houses and is of particular value for its largely 
intact form, design and appearance.  Physical qualities of note include 
Glenholm’s square plan, two-storey symmetrical design, prominent masonry 
chimneys, double-hung sash windows and (reinstated) wraparound verandah.  
Like many buildings of its age, Glenholm has undergone varying degrees of 
alterations to accommodate changing residential needs; however, the existence 
of the place’s key physical attributes ensures that its legibility as one of 
Remuera’s earliest colonial residences remains. 

 
Overall, the place has considerable physical attributes value locally. 

 
 

(g) Aesthetic  

The place is notable or distinctive for its aesthetic, visual, or landmark qualities.  
  

Located in the centre of a mature garden on the north-eastern slopes of Mt 
Hobson and orientated to the north to capture views out to the Waitemata 
Harbour, Glenholm has moderate value for its visual appeal that derives from its 
long-established relationship with its setting.  Surrounded by vegetation, the 
place is not highly conspicuous within the locality, but as a two-storey colonial 
Georgian residence, with symmetrical frontage and traditional decorative 
elements, it has notable aesthetic and evocative qualities that exemplify a mid-
nineteenth century taste. 

 
The place has moderate aesthetic value locally.  

 
 

(h) Context 

The place contributes to or is associated with a wider historical or cultural 
context, streetscape, townscape, landscape or setting. 

 
Glenholm has considerable context value for its association with its original 
(albeit subdivided) site for 150 years and for forming a notable part of an 
important historical landscape in Remuera.  Built in 1868, the place has value as 
one of a small number of important grand houses that survive as tangible 
reminders of Remuera’s establishment and growth as an affluent colonial suburb.  
Situated on one of the many residential streets renowned for their substantial 
homes in generous gardens, Glenholm also forms part of a broader collection of 
nineteenth century residences that collectively contribute to the character and 
sense of place of the locality. 

 
The place has considerable context value locally. 
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8.0 Statement of significance  
Established by the well-known Clark/Stevenson family as a large Remuera residence in 
1868, Glenholm is significant for its association with an early period of European 
settlement within the locality and for reflecting important aspects of Remuera’s social 
history and early growth as an exclusive residential suburb during the mid to late-
nineteenth century.  It also has value for reflecting the presence of wealthy individuals 
and the creation of estate lifestyles in suburban society during a period of economic 
buoyancy in colonial Auckland.  Built in the Georgian style, often associated with early 
New Zealand houses, the place is significant as a good representative example of a 
substantial colonial residence in the locality, and is of particular note for its largely 
intact form, design and appearance, which ensures its legibility as one of Remuera’s 
earliest surviving houses.  Set within a mature garden on the slopes of Mt Hobson, 
Glenholm has value for its visual appeal that derives from its long-established 
relationship with its setting and for its aesthetic and evocative qualities that exemplify a 
mid-nineteenth century taste.  Occupying its original (albeit subdivided) site for 150 
years, the place is significant for forming a notable part of an early and important 
historical landscape in Remuera and for contributing to the character and sense of 
place of the locality. 
 

9.0 Extent of the place for scheduling 
§ The identified extent of place is the area that is integral to the function, meaning 

and relationships of the place. 
 
§ The extensive estate upon which Glenholm was built in 1868 was subdivided in 

the early twentieth century.  It has maintained a relationship with its original site 
for 150 years and its subdivided section for over 90 years. The recommended 
extent of place therefore encompasses the full CT boundary (shown in Figure 7). 

 

 
Figure 7: Proposed extent of place for Glenholm (purple hatch), outlined by the CT boundary (blue 
line).  The aerial also shows the garage exclusion (red hatch).  The exclusion of the pool area has 
not been shown on the map as the full extent of the structure and enclosure is unclear (Auckland 
Council GeoMaps). 

 
§ Exclusions include the modern, detached structures that include the storey-and-

a-half garage (1982, modifications 2003), located to the south (rear) of the 
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principal dwelling and the pool structure and associated enclosure (1987 and 
1997), positioned in the north-eastern corner of the site.  Exclusions also apply to 
the interior of the principal residence, which was not inspected as part of this 
evaluation.  It is possible however, that portions of the building’s original layout, 
fabric and features remain, which could reinforce the place’s significance.  Future 
access onto the site and inside the building would therefore be beneficial. 

 

10.0 Recommendations   
 

§ Based on the preceding evaluation, Glenholm, 37 Portland Road, Remuera is 
shown to demonstrate considerable historical and physical attributes values, and 
moderate aesthetic and context values within the locality. 

 
§ Overall, Glenholm is of considerable historic heritage significance within the 

locality and meets the threshold to be included as a Category B historic heritage 
place in the Schedule. 

 
§ The extent of place includes all that land set out in Figure 7.   

 

11.0 Table of Historic Heritage Values  
Significance Criteria (A-H) Value* (None, Little, 

Moderate, Considerable, 
Exceptional) 

Context (Local, Regional, 
National, International) 

A- Historical  
 

Considerable Local  

B- Social 
 

Little Local 

C- Mana Whenua 
 

Not evaluated Not evaluated 

D- Knowledge 
 

Little Local 

E- Technology 
 

None N/a 

F- Physical Attributes  
 

Considerable Local  

G- Aesthetic 
 

Moderate  Local 

H- Context  
 

Considerable Local  

 
*Levels of significance or value: 
 
Exceptional:  of outstanding importance and interest; retention of the identified 
value(s)/significance is essential. 
 
Considerable:  of great importance and interest; retention of the identified 
value(s)/significance is very important. 
 
Moderate: of some importance and interest; retention of the identified 
value(s)/significance is desirable.  
  
Little: of limited importance and interest. 
 
NA/None:  none identified 
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12.0 Overall significance 
Place Name and/or 
Description 
 

Glenholm 
37 Portland Road, Remuera 

Category B 
 

Primary Feature Principal residence (Glenholm) 
 

Known Heritage Values A, F, G 
 

Extent of Place Refer to planning maps (all that land shown in Figure 7). 
 

Exclusions (within the 
extent of place) 
 

Garage, pool, and the interior of the residence. 

Additional Controls for 
Archaeological Sites or 
Features 
 

 

Place of Maori Interest 
or Significance 
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Appendix 1: Historical background 
 

Early history: Tāmaki-makau-rau and Remuwera 

Long before the arrival of European settlers, Remuwera12 and surrounding lands were 
a valued part of Tāmaki-makau-rau.  Whilst Māori settlement on the isthmus is thought 
to have begun some centuries prior to 1400 AD, it was during this time of population 
increase that the tops of nearby volcanic cones were transformed into pā, and low-lying 
areas cultivated.13  The Remuwera (present-day Mt Hobson) cone, for example, was 
terraced for habitation, agriculture and defence.14  Tāmaki-makau-rau was generally 
divided into hapū territories, and with its wealth of volcanic cones, cultivated land, bush, 
and abundant food sources, the highly desirable isthmus inevitably attracted outside 
tribes, making it “a melting pot of resident people and incomers alike”.15   
 
By 1700, Wai-o-Hua were the dominant group on the isthmus, occupying numerous pā 
including Remuwera16 and nearby Maunga-rāhiri17 (later Little Rangitoto in Upland 
Road) pā.18  However, inter-tribal friction and conflict led to their eventual downfall, and 
in 1750, they were faced with sustained attacks from Ngāti Whātua.19  Following Wai-o-
Hua’s defeat, other conflicts ensued between Ngāti Pāoa, the residents of the 
southeast of the isthmus, and Ngāti Whātua.20  Following a few decades of relative 
peace and stability in Tāmaki-makau-rau, the acquisition of muskets by Ngā Puhi in 
1820 completely unbalanced tribal power when they attacked Ngāti Whātua from the 
north, to devastating effect.21  After the musket wars, inter-tribal relationships across 
the North Island were altered irrevocably and the traditional Māori way of life on 
Tāmaki-makau-rau began to change.22  By the time Europeans arrived, the isthmus 
was largely uninhabited.  
 

First land purchases  

In May 1840, prior to Governor William Hobson formally founding the settlement of 
Auckland and before the acquisition of Māori land by the Crown, a young John Logan 
Campbell visited the Waitematā with the intention of purchasing land from Ngāti 
Whātua.  He was particularly captivated by the beauty of present-day Remuera, 
however, his attempt to acquire land on its northern slopes failed.23  Later that year, 
Ngāti Whātua leader, Te Kawau offered 3,000 acres of land to Governor Hobson for 
the establishment of the town of Auckland, and in 1841, the Crown acquired the 
Kohimarama Block, located to the east of Remuera, from Ngāti Pāoa.24   
 
It was not until 1844, following a great feast held by Waikato iwi at Remuera, that Māori 
land in the area first became available.  Purchased under Governor Robert FitzRoy’s 
10-shilling pre-emption waivers during 1844 and 1845, large blocks of Remuera land to 
the south of the newly established Tāmaki (later Remuera) Road were swiftly acquired 
by early settlers and investors.25  

                                                
12 The Maori name, Remuwera came from two words: remu meaning hem or edge, and wera meaning burnt.   
13 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, A Fine Prospect: A History or Remuera, Meadowbank and St Johns, Auckland, 
Random House, 2011, 21. 
14 Ibid. 
15 R. C. J. Stone, From Tamaki-Makau-Rau to Auckland, Auckland, Auckland University press, 2002, 10. 
16 Remuwera pa (Mt Hobson) was originally name Ohinerau (the place of Hinerau). 
17 Maunga-rahiri pa (Little Rangitoto or Rangitoto-iti) was located atop a volcanic cone, near present-day Little Rangitoto 
Reserve at the lower end of Upland Road.  
18 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 21-2. 
19 Ibid., 22. 
20 Ibid. 
21 Ibid., 25. 
22 Ibid., 21. 
23 Ibid., 8 and 26. 
24 Remuera Heritage, Remuera Heritage Walk: St Aidans to Mount Hobson, 2006. 
25 Ibid., 35-5 and 46. 
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Between 1847 and 1855, the Crown had purchased the remaining Remuera land to the 
north of Tāmaki Road from Ngāti Whātua, which comprised the Te Tiki blocks I and II 
(1847), the Ōhinerau blocks I and II (1851 and 1853) and the Pukapuka blocks I and II 
(1855).26  Public auctions took place between 1848 and 1856, where fierce competition 
resulted in high land purchase prices. The Ōhinerau blocks I and II were of particular 
interest, being regarded as “some of the most valuable land in Remuera”.27  
Comprising 50 acres that extended north from Tamaki (Remuera) Road to the stream 
after which the land named, the Ōhinerau II block was purchased by the Crown in 1853 
for £100 and was available for sale at public auction the following year.  The Ohinerau 
and Pukapuka blocks were collectively surveyed as Section 16 of the Suburbs of 
Auckland and covered the majority of the northern slopes of present-day Remuera and 
part of Meadowbank.28   Early purchasers of this land included Harbour Master, 
Captain Rough (Allotment 25), trader and merchant, David Graham (Allotment 26), 
Archibald Clark (Allotment 27), James Westwood (allotments 28 and 30) and Henry 
Somervell (Allotment 31) some of whom went on to establish large residences on their 
estates.29 
 
 

 

Figure 8: Plan showing the 
Ohinerau (II) block, comprising 
50 acres of land between 
Tamaki (Remuera) Road and the 
Ohinerau stream.  This land was 
acquired by the Crown in 1853 
and was available for sale the 
following year (taken from J. H. 
Rose, Some Houses in 
Ohinerau, n.d. 29). 

                                                
26 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 38 and 54; Winifred Macdonald, Recollections: A Sketch History of Early 
Remuera 1870-1914, Auckland, Milnes, 1983, 5-6. 
27 Early Native Land Purchases, New Zealand Herald, Volume XXVI, Issue 9488, 5 October 1889, 1 (Supplement), 
Papers Past. 
28 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 38 and 54; Winifred Macdonald, 1983, 6.   
29 J. H. Rose, Some Houses in Ohinerau, n.d. 3, Family collection; Deeds index 6A.255, Archives New Zealand. 
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Early landowners: the Clark family 

Remuera land continued to be highly desirable, and was eagerly purchased by settlers 
and speculators when it became available.  The remarkable scenery and relatively 
close proximity to Auckland made Remuera an ideal location for Auckland’s most 
prosperous residents.  Successful merchants and businessmen, professionals, 
distinguished farmers and influential landowners all made Remuera home.30   
 
Archibald Clark (1805-1875) was one such individual, 
being one of the earliest and most prominent merchants to 
purchase land in Remuera during the 1850s and 1860s.31  
A native of Beith in Scotland, Clark and his family 
immigrated to New Zealand in 1849, where he took an 
active interest in public affairs.  He was elected several 
times to the House of Representatives and became the 
first Mayor of Auckland (1851-2).32  A successful 
entrepreneur, he established a drapery shop in Shortland 
Street in 1850, which expanded to become the family 
business of Archibald Clark and Son(s) Ltd., a thriving 
warehouse and manufacturing enterprise that went on to 
open branches across New Zealand and an office in 
London.33 
 
When Clark purchased Allotment 27 of Section 16 (on the 
Ōhinerau II block) in 1854, the five-acre34 section of land 
on Remuera Road (next to present-day King’s School) 
became a holiday destination for his family. There in the 
bush he built a bach named the ‘Chateau’.35  By 1866, a 
more permanent residence was established.  Erected 
closer to road, ‘The Brae’ was a single-storey timber 
building with attic rooms where Clark lived with his third 
wife, Mary (nee. Anderson) until his death in 1875.36  The 
property remained in the family for some time prior to its 
demolition in the 1930s. 
 
Over the subsequent decades, several large neighbouring 
properties – over 30 acres of land – along Remuera and 
Portland roads were acquired by Clark’s three sons, 
Mathew, Archibald and James McCosh.  Their 
landholdings were so extensive that Portland Road was 
originally named Clark’s Road.37  One of the allotments 
(Allotment 31) was acquired in 1861 by James McCosh 
Clark (1833-1898) who became prominent in the civic and 
commercial life of mid-late nineteenth century Auckland, 
serving as Mayor of Auckland between 1880-3 (refer to 
Appendix 1.4).  In 1867, he gifted Allotment 31 to his 
sister, Margaret Stevenson.38   
 

 
Figure 9: Archibald Clark, 
c.1875 (Sir George Grey 
Special Collections, Auckland 
Libraries, 7-A5070). 
 

 
Figure 10: James McCosh 
Clark, c.1880s (Sir George Grey 
Special Collections, Auckland 
Libraries, 7-A5078). 

                                                
30 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 8-9 and 46. 
31 Ibid., 55. 
32 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980, Family collection.  Clark was elected as the inaugural and 
only Mayor of Auckland Borough, however, the legality its elevation to borough was contested and overturned in 1852. 
33 Clark, Archibald and Sons. Ltd., The Cyclopedia of New Zealand [Auckland Provincial District], Christchurch 1902 
from the New Zealand Electronic Text Collection,  
34 Although referenced as five acres in Winifred Macdonald, Recollections: A Sketch History of Early Remuera 1870-
1914, the book has been informally annotated by family members to read two-and-a-quarter acres. 
35 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980; Winifred Macdonald, 1983, 7.  
36 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980; Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 56 and 234. 
37 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 234. 
38 Deeds index 6A.255, Archives New Zealand; J. H. Rose Old Houses in Ohinerau, 1984, 12. 
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Margaret Stevenson (nee. Clark) was the only daughter of Archibald Clark and his 
second wife Margaret Jamieson.39  In 1862, she married James Young Stevenson, a 
distant relative of renowned Scottish writer, Robert Louis Stevenson.40  He became a 
partner in the family firm of Archibald and Sons, managing the business while his 
father-in-law, Archibald and brother-in-law, James pursued their political careers.  He 
also took an active role in the foundation of St Luke’s Church.41  Living first in Grafton 
Road, the Stevensons relocated to Remuera following the acquisition of their Portland 
Road estate.42  In c.1868, they built their residence ‘Glenholm’ and it was here that 
their eight children would grow up.  The house would remain in the family’s ownership 
until 1920.43 
 

  
Figure 11: J. Y. Stevenson, 
n.d. (from J. H. Rose (Edited 
by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 
1980). 

Figure 12: The Stevenson family, late 1890s.  Back row (l-r): Daisy, 
Ernest and Ina, middle row (l-r): Archie (Archibald Clark (jnr)), Margaret, 
Melvie (James Melville) and Jessie, and front row (l-r): Alice and Mary 
(from J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980). 

 

‘Glenholm’  

Built on approximately nine acres of land and orientated to the north, Glenholm was a 
substantial two-storey timber residence of square plan with a slate roof and 
wraparound verandah.44  The house comprised a number of large ground-floor rooms 
accessed via a central hallway, and seven first-floor bedrooms.  Surrounding the 
residence was a two-acre garden full of “interesting plants” and trees that included a 
large Cedar of Lebanon and a sequoia.45  Beyond the garden was a two-acre orchard, 
tennis court, vinery, a large vegetable garden and an area kept in bush.  The remainder 
of the land was used to graze the cow and horses.  Outbuildings included a 
washhouse, L-plan stable, coach house and a number of sheds.46  In his book, Some 
Houses in Ohinerau, grandson, J. H. Rose documented his recollections of the house: 
 

There was a passage from front to rear and from this, stairs lead up to a 
central hall lit by a window about the stairs, in the back wall.  Behind this 
two storied part was what I think was the modified cottage which appears in 
a Hoyte picture.  On the north west corner of the main house was a very 
formal “drawing room”…The “dining room” was a large comfortable room 

                                                
39 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980. 
40 J. H. Rose, Early Auckland Homes VII: James Young Stevenson’s House in Portland Road, Remuera, from Historical 
Journal, No. 20, April 1972, 27. 
41 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980. 
42 J. H. Rose, Early Auckland Homes VII, 27. 
43 Ibid.; J. H. Rose Some Houses in Ohinerau, 1984, 12. 
44 J. H. Rose, Early Auckland Homes VII, 27-28. 
45 Ibid. 
46 Ibid. 
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on the north eastern corner…When I remember this room it was not used 
for meals…At this stage the room was used as a general family room.  It 
had shelves for books and there was often a fire burning when the weather 
was cold…Behind this room on the south east corner was the “school 
room”.  This was quite a big room and got its name from its use by a 
governess to teach the young children.  In later times it had been used for 
dancing and other entertainment.  When I knew it, in the early 1900s, it was 
used for meals.  On the south west corner of the two storied part of the 
house was the kitchen.  A large room with a cast-iron coal stove which had 
once been the only means of cooking…Behind the kitchen, in the part 
which had probably been the small older house, were several small rooms.  
Next to the kitchen was the “scullery”…Behind the scullery was the 
larder…Across the passage from the larder was the dairy…[and] Behind 
the larder was the storeroom with the reserve supplies of food.  This room 
had no window…Around the outside of this part of the house were the 
stands of the tanks which supplied the water.  Upstairs there were seven 
bedrooms of varying size…in addition to the bedrooms, there was a 
bathroom. 
 

In addition to the house there were outbuildings.  Just across the yard from 
the back door was the washhouse with large kauri wooden tubs and a 
boiler with a large copper bowl…This copper boiler was set in a brick 
surround with a chimney and was heated with a fire of wood and 
imflamable [sic.] rubbish…Near the washhouse there was a 
woodshed…Further away was the milking shed and the fowl house and 
fowl yard.47   

 
 

 
Figure 13: Glenholm, viewed from the north west, located in its large estate, date unknown (“Glenholm”, 
home of the J. Y. Stevenson Family, Portland Road, Remuera, Unknown photographer, PH-NEG-C18253, 
Auckland Museum Collections). 

                                                
47 J. H. Rose Some Houses in Ohinerau, 1984, 12-14. 
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A reflection of their social status, the Stevensons employed a number of people to 
assist with the running of the estate, including household servants, a coachman/groom 
and a gardener.48  They also hosted family weddings and parties, often entertaining 
other high society families, such as that of successful lawyer, J. B. Russell who owned 
the grand Epsom property, ‘Marivare’49.50 
 
In 1876, the Stevensons acquired neighbouring Allotment 33, but sold it following the 
death of J. Y. Stevenson’s in 1878.  At this time, the ownership of the property 
(including Allotment 31 and part Allotment 30) was transferred to Margaret’s family 
members, James McCosh Clark (brother), Robert Humphrey Stevenson (brother-in-
law), Archibald Clark (junior, brother) and Matthew Anderson Clark (brother).51  In 
January 1881, Margaret Stevenson and her family left New Zealand for Europe, the 
principal focus being the education of her children.52  A month before their departure on 
“The Wanganui” ship, an advertisement featured in the Auckland Star publicising the 
sale of the entire household furniture and effects, together with horses and carriages, 
indicating that the family anticipated a long trip.53  By 1886, the Stevenson family had 
returned to New Zealand, and to Glenholm.54 
 

Remuera: an ‘aristocratic’ suburb  

In 1866, two years before the construction of Glenholm, there were around 30 
households established in Remuera.55  Its rural landscape was dotted with a mixture of 
country cottages and an increasing number of grand houses in park-like settings, which 
were home to some of the most influential and prosperous individuals in the country. 
By this time, the fledgling settlement of Remuera had two churches (St Marks Anglican 
Church (1847) and a Methodist Church (1859)); a highway district board (1863); and 
several small Church and private ‘dame’ schools.56  When Remuera became a stop on 
the Auckland-Onehunga railway line in 1873, it was still very much a rural settlement, 
with fewer than 500 residents and around 270 inhabited homes.57  Its high number of 
affluent residents and substantial residential estates no doubt gave rise to Remuera 
being labelled an “aristocratic suburb”58 by Brett’s Auckland Almanac in 1883. 
 
This sense of exclusivity was firmly rooted in the establishment of a number of grand 
houses between the 1850s and 1880s.  Some of the earliest included ‘Ellerslie House’ 
(1853) and ‘The Tower’ (1855), built for illustrious landowners and brothers Robert and 
David Graham respectively, in addition to ‘Remuera Point’ (mid-1850s), ‘Charleville’ 
(1856), ‘Woodville’ (1856), ‘The Priory’ (1857), ‘Waimarama’ (c.1860), and ‘Oaklands’ 
(1860s).  Each was set in extensive grounds, with ornamental gardens, orchards and 
stables.59  Following the construction of Glenholm in 1868, several other grand 
residences were erected including ‘Dunholme’ (1870s), ‘Roselle’ (1879), ‘Waitaramoa’ 

                                                
48 Ibid., 12-15; J. H. Rose, Early Auckland Homes VII, 27-28. 
49 ‘Marivare’ is located at 60 Ranfurly Road, Epsom.  It is scheduled as a Category A place in the AUP Scheduled of 
Historic Heritage (ID: 01823) and listed as a Category 1 place in the New Zealand Heritage List, administered by 
HNZPT (No. 2642).  
50 J. H. Rose, Early Auckland Homes VII, 27; R. J. Stone. ‘Russell, John Benjamin’, Dictionary of New Zealand 
Biography, first published in 1993.  Te Ara – the Encyclopedia of New Zealand, 
https://teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/2r33/russell-john-benjamin  
51 Certificate of titles (CTs) NA8/209 and NA11/202, Land Information New Zealand (LINZ) records.  Refer to Appendix 
1.2. 
52 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980. 
53 Page 3 Advertisements Column 8, Auckland Star, Volume XI, Issue 3249, 18 December 1880, 3, Papers Past.  Refer 
to Appendix 1.5. 
54 J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980. 
55 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 54. 
56 Ibid., 144, 184 and 193; Winifred Macdonald, 1983, 14. 
57 Winifred Macdonald, 1983, 14; Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 283. 
58 Henry Brett, Brett’s Auckland Almanac, Auckland, 1883, 83, referenced in Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 
46.  This term was also applied to neighbouring Epsom. 
59 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 228-234.  Refer to Appendix 4 for further details. 
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(c.1882) ‘Buckland House’ (1884), ‘Stradcona’ (1885), ‘The Whare’ (1886), ‘Woodcroft’ 
(c.1888).  Stradcona and The Whare were also built on Portland Road.60 
 
 

 

Figure 14: ‘The Tower’ built for 
early landowner, David Graham in 
1855, it was purchased by James 
McCosh Clark in 1874.  This image 
was taken in 1898, the same year it 
became part of King’s College 
(later School).  The building 
continues to form part of the school 
complex (H. Winkelmann, Sir 
George Grey Special Collections, 
Auckland Libraries, 1-W576). 

 

 

Figure 15: ‘Charleville’, later 
known as Melrose Hall and 
Cleveland House, was one of 
Remuera’s grandest homes.  Built 
in 1856 on 14-acres of land near 
present-day Garden Road, it later 
became the Remuera Ladies’ 
College.  This image was taken in 
1880-90s.  The building was 
demolished in 1966 (J. D. 
Richardson, Sir George Grey 
Special Collections, Auckland 
Libraries, 4-RIC67). 

 

 
Figure 16: Looking north east from Mount Hobson showing a mix of residences along Remuera Road 
(right) and Portland Road (left to right centre), around 1890-1900s.  Grander residences include Glenholm 
(1), Stradcona (2), School for Young Ladies (3) built in a similar style to Glenholm, and Cleveland House 
(4).  Of these four buildings, only Glenholm remains (J. D. Richardson, Sir George Grey Special 
Collections, Auckland Libraries, 4-RIC241). 

                                                
60 Ibid.  Refer to Appendix 4 for further details. 

4 

3 
2 
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By the mid-1880s there had been a surge of activity in Remuera land sales and 
auctions, generating considerable profits for landowners.  It was a period of large-scale 
subdivision of farmland into smaller residential lots – including the eastern side of 
Portland Road – many of which were touted as “splendid” and “grand fashionable 
building sites” with “magnificent views”.61  In late 1885, the boom time of the early 
1880s was brought to an end by the onset of a decade-long recession that put 
considerable pressure on speculative schemes and saw the collapse of the inflated 
property market.62  However, the new century brought with it renewed growth and 
prosperity.  Local businesses flourished and endured, land continued to be subdivided 
and developed, and the district’s population rose from 1,676 in 1891 to 2,186 in 1901, 
and by 1911, had more than doubled to 5,284.63   
 

Glenholm: subdivision and changes 

A year before the death of Margaret Stevenson in 1910, the Glenholm estate occupied 
parts of original allotments 30 and 31 and was in the ownership of family members, 
Archibald Clark (brother), Matthew Anderson Clark (brother) and Archibald Clark 
Stevenson (son).64  In 1913, the property was transferred to Margaret’s sons, Archibald 
Clark Stevenson and James Melville Stevenson, and was occupied at some stage by 
her other son, Ernest, who died at Glenholm in 1920.65  
 
In 1915, the subdivision of the Glenholm estate began, which coincided with changing 
social and economic times.  A period of unrest that was initially brought on by the 1907 
recession ensued with the onset of the First World War in 1914 and the influenza 
epidemic in 1918.66  As Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow put it in their book, A Fine 
Prospect, the subsequent years saw the “abundantly staffed old mansions replete with 
manicured gardens and sweeping grounds gradually [become] an endangered 
species.”67  The Glenholm estate was initially subdivided into eight lots, with the 
residence situated on Lot 4.68  Lot 4 was purchased by Trade Commissioner, William 
Arthur Beddoe in 1920, who occupied the property until 1924.69  When it was 
advertised for sale in December that year, the “substantial house of 11 rooms” 
comprised a drawing room, dining room, hall, library, five bedrooms and kitchen and 
benefitted from harbour views and park-like grounds.70  In addition to the residence, the 
furnishings were also up for auction.  The property was acquired by manager, John 
George Russell in 1925.71  By the end of the year, Russell had subdivided Lot 4 into a 
further six lots, with Glenholm occupying Lot 5 (then addressed 19 Portland Road).72 
 
The first recorded changes to the building occurred following Russell’s acquisition of 
the property.  Internal alterations were carried out in 1925, a brick and asbestos garage 
erected, and in 1926, plans were drawn up for the replacement of Glenholm’s 
wraparound verandah with a two-storey porch.73  Partially extending across the front 
(north) elevation and resulting in the loss of the ground floor bay window, the 

                                                
61 Sir George Grey Special Collections, Auckland Libraries, NZ Map 2675, NZ Map 4497-8 and NZ Map 4230. 
62 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 72. 
63 Ibid., 80 and 314. 
64 Personal, Auckland Star, Volume XLI, Issue 11, 13 January 1910, 5, Papers Past; CT NA159/147, LINZ records; J. H. 
Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980. 
65 CT NA159/147, LINZ records; Deaths, New Zealand Herald, Volume LVII, Issue 17381, 30 January 1920, 1, Papers 
Past. 
66 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 80. 
67 Ibid. 
68 DP 10255, Cadastral index.  Refer to Appendix 1.2. 
69 CT NA305/151, LINZ records. 
70 Page 4 Advertisements Column 5, New Zealand Herald, Volume LXI, Issue 18894, 17 December 1924, 4, Papers 
Past.  Refer to Appendix 1.5. 
71 CT NA305/151, LINZ records. 
72 DP 18802, Cadastral index.  Refer to Appendix 1.2. 
73 ACC 443 Building Permit and Plan Cards First Sequence 1920-1959, Me-Po, Record ID: 73868, Auckland Council 
Archives; B/1982/5607 – Building Consent Plan – O/7973/06, Auckland Council property file: 27 Portland Road, 
Remuera. 
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incorporation of the porch illustrated changing architectural preferences at a time when 
the ‘bungalow’ had supplanted the ‘villa’ as the residential style of choice.    
 
Glenholm continued to change hands over the following two decades.  Elizabeth Anne 
Moorhouse acquired the property in 1927 and occupied it with her accountant husband, 
Frederick.74  The following year, she sold a small portion of the south-eastern corner of 
the site to neighbour, Albert Whyte.75  Between 1932 and 1949, the property was in the 
ownership of the ‘Trustees for the time being of the Court City of Auckland Number 
3978 Ancient Order of Foresters’, a friendly society whose founding principles were to 
“provide financial and social benefits as well as support to members and their families 
in times of unemployment, sickness, death, disability and old age”.76  For a short period 
in 1940, the property was advertised as the Alan Moor Resting Home.77 
 
In 1949, Glenholm was purchased by Ruby Zealandia Richards and plans were 
submitted for the conversion of the property into flats.78  This approach of utilising 
larger homes for multiple dwellings was becoming increasingly common in the post-
Second World War era, and had long been established as a popular trend in residential 
living.  Works involved the enclosure of the two-storey porch and its incorporation into 
the living accommodation, the creation of new entrance doors and outdoor steps, and 
the removal of the internal staircase.79  Four years later, a car port was erected.  In 
1965, further alterations were undertaken to reduce the number of flats from four to 
three and also involved the installation of a fire escape.80  The property was acquired 
by Auckland contractor, Brian O’Connor in 1978 and transferred to David Collinson and 
his wife, Vanessa in 1980.81 
 

Glenholm’s ‘restoration’ 

Soon after their purchase of Glenholm in 1980, the Collinsons commissioned 
architects, Swan Railley Paterson to develop a scheme to convert the building back 
into a single-family residence.82  The extensive proposals saw the removal of the two-
storey porch and reinstatement of the front (north) entrance and wraparound verandah 
– a key feature of the building’s original construction; the repair and/or replacement of 
double-hung sash windows (by this time, those on the west elevation were multi-
paned) and reinstatement of the internal staircase; the blocking up of later openings 
and removal of fire escape steps; the installation of French doors and the erection of a 
pergola.  The interior was arranged to comprise four principal ground floor rooms and 
five first floor bedrooms.83  Careful attention to detail resulted in the design of the 
verandah and steps in a manner that closely reflected the building’s original 
construction.   
 
Glenholm’s ‘restoration’ was undertaken at a time when Remuera’s grand old houses 
were coming under increasing threat due to the pressures of infill development, often in 
the guise of townhouses and apartments, which were gradually changing the face of 
one of Auckland’s oldest suburbs.84  Several of Remuera’s earliest mansions such as 
Charleville, The Priory, Dunholme, Waimarama, Waitaramoa, and Stradcona had by 

                                                
74 CTs NA452/239 and NA632/279, LINZ records; ACC 213 Valuation Field Sheets 1912-1997, Portland Road 11-173, 
1915-1956, Record ID: 328975, Auckland Council Archives. 
75 CTs NA452/239 and NA632/279, LINZ records. 
76 CT NA632/279, LINZ records; Ancient Order of Foresters. Auckland District. Records, 1863-1978. Auckland War 
Memorial Museum Library. MS-1745.  Refer to Appendix 1.6. 
77 Page 1 Advertisements Column 3, Auckland Star, Volume LXXI, Issue 178, 29 July 1940, 1, Papers Past. 
78 CT NA632/279, LINZ records; Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera. 
79 Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera.  Refer to Appendix 2.1. 
80 Ibid. 
81 CT NA632/279, LINZ records. 
82 Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera.  Refer to Appendix 2.1. 
83 Ibid. 
84 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 138. 
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this time been demolished or destroyed by fire, while others such as The Tower, the 
Mitchelson House and Roselle were incorporated into school complexes.  
 
Further changes in the 1980s included the erection of a double garage, the installation 
of a swimming pool in the north-east corner of the site, and the construction of a 
conservatory on the east elevation.85   
 
Glenholm changed hands a couple of times during the mid-1990s; firstly, to Grant 
Seagar and his wife, Marie in 1994 and then to Brian Carter, Clare Bradley and Alastair 
Hudson a year later.86  In 2002, the property was purchased by John and Janet 
Cousins and Hamish Spencer, who went on to carry out alterations to the residence 
and garage over the following couple of years.  In 2003, proposals were drawn up by 
Salmond Reed Architects for modifications to the garage loft and a small addition to the 
rear (south) elevation.  The following year, further proposals were developed for the 
erection of a new conservatory (in lieu of the existing); the extension of the vernadah 
along the east elevation; the replacement of a window on the east and west elevations 
with French doors; and the renewal of part of the roof cladding and roof and first-floor 
ceiling timbers.87  
 
In 2008, current owners, Graham Matthews, Belinda Parkinson and Christopher Lord 
acquired the property.88 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
85 Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera.   
86 CT NA632/279, LINZ records. 
87 Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera.  Refer to Appendix 2.1. 
88 CT NA632/279, LINZ records. 
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1.1 Chronological summary 

Chronology of ownership, events and changes 

The following table provides a chronological summary of known ownership, key events 
and physical changes associated with Glenholm, 37 Portland Road, Remuera. 
 
 
Date 

 

Event/Change 
 

1853 The Crown acquired Ōhinerau block II from Ngāti Whātua. 
1854 The Crown grantees for original Allotment 30 and Allotment 31 (Section 

16, Suburbs of Auckland and part of the Ōhinerau block II) were James 
Westwood and Henry Somervell respectively. 

1861 James McCosh Clark acquired Allotment 31 from Aitken. 
1867 Allotment 31 was transferred to his sister, Margaret Stevenson. 
1868 ‘Glenholm’, a grand two-storey residence was constructed for Margaret, 

her husband, J. Y. Stevenson and their children. 
1878 J. Y. Stevenson passed away.  At this time, the ownership of the 

property (Allotment 31 and part Allotment 30) was transferred to 
Margaret’s family members, James McCosh Clark (brother), Robert 
Humphrey Stevenson (brother-in-law), Archibald Clark (junior, brother) 
and Matthew Anderson Clark (brother). 

1881 The Stevensons left Glenholm (and New Zealand) for Europe. 
1886 The Stevensons returned to Glenholm. 
1909 The Glenholm estate occupied parts of original allotments 30 and 31 and 

was in the ownership of family members, Archibald Clark (brother), 
Matthew Anderson Clark (brother) and Archibald Clark Stevenson (son). 

1910 Margaret Stevenson passed away. 
1913 The property was transferred to Margaret’s sons, Archibald Clark 

Stevenson and James Melville Stevenson. 
1915 The estate was subdivided into eight lots.  Glenholm occupied Lot 4. 
1920 Margaret’s son, Ernest Stevenson, died at Glenholm.  Lot 4 was 

purchased by Trade Commissioner, William Beddoe. 
1924 The property and all its furnishings were advertised for sale. 
1925 Manager, John Russell acquired the property.  He subdivided the already 

reduced estate into a further six lots.  Glenholm occupied Lot 5 (then 
addressed 19 Portland Road).  Internal alterations were carried out and a 
garage was erected. 

1926 The wraparound verandah was replaced with a two-storey porch. 
1927 The property was transferred to Elizabeth Moorhouse. 
1928 A small portion of land to the south-eastern corner of the site was sold to 

neighbour, Albert Whyte.  
1932 The property was purchased by friendly society, ‘Trustees for the time 

being of the Court City of Auckland Number 3978 Ancient Order of 
Foresters’. 

1940 Glenholm was advertised for a couple of months as the Alan Moor 
Resting Home. 

1949 Ruby Richards acquired Glenholm and submitted plans for the 
conversion of the property into flats. 

1953 A car port was erected. 
1965 Alterations were carried out to reduce the number of flats from four to 

three. 
1978 The property was transferred to Auckland contractor, Brian O’Connor. 
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Date 
 

Event/Change 
 

1980 David and Vanessa Collinson acquired the property.  Glenholm 
underwent a ‘restoration’, which involved converting the building back 
into a single-family residence and reinstating features such as the 
wraparound verandah and staircase.  The extensive works also included 
the erection of a pergola. 

1982 A double garage was constructed. 
1987 A swimming pool was installed in the north-eastern corner of the 

property. 
1989 Additions and alterations were carried out, including the replacement of 

the pergola with a conservatory. 
1994 The property was purchased by Grant and Marie Seagar. 
1995 It was transferred to Brian Carter, Clare Bradley and Alastair Hudson. 
1997 Fencing around the swimming pool was erected. 
2002 John and Janet Cousins and Hamish Spencer acquired the property. 
2003 Modifications were proposed to the garage loft layout and a small 

extension added to the rear of the building. 
2004 Plans were submitted for a number of repairs and alterations including 

the erection of a new conservatory, and the replacement of windows with 
French doors. 

2008 Current owners, Graham Matthews, Belinda Parkinson and Christopher 
Lord acquired the property. 
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1.2 Deeds and Land Information New Zealand (LINZ) records   

1.2.1 Deeds No. 231a  

 

Figure 17: Copy of Deed 231 showing the acquisition of the Ohinerau Block by the Crown from 
Ngati Whatua (Maori Deeds of Land Purchases in the North Island of New Zealand: Volume One, 
page 289 from the New Zealand Electronic Collection: http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/tei-
Tur01Nort-t1-g1-g1-g1-g7-t27.html).  
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1.2.2 Deeds index 

6A.255 
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1.2.3 Certificates of title 

 
NA8/209 (1 of 2) 
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NA8/209 (2 of 2) 
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NA11/197 
 

 
  



The Heritage Studio Ltd. 

Historic Heritage Evaluation: Glenholm | FINAL  
  
 

36 

NA11/202 
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NA159/147 (1 of 2) 
 

 
 
 
  



The Heritage Studio Ltd. 

Historic Heritage Evaluation: Glenholm | FINAL  
  
 

38 

NA159/147 (2 of 2) 
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NA305/151 (1 of 2) 
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NA305/151 (2 of 2) 
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NA452/239  
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NA632/279 (1 of 3) 
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NA632/279 (2 of 3) 
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NA632/279 (3 of 3) 
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1.2.4 Plans 

 
DP 4566 (1908) 
 

 

Figure 18: Showing a plan of Allotment 32 and part of Allotment 31, Section 16, for Mrs Stevenson in 
1908.  During this time, Mrs Stevenson owned/occupied Allotment 31 and part Allotment 30.  Glenholm 
was located on Allotment 31.  Allotments 32 and 33 were owned by J. W. Rice and the remainder of 
Allotment 30 by C. T. Major.  
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DP 10255 (1915) 
 

 

Figure 19: Plan showing the subdivision of parts of allotments 30 and 31, Section 16, into eight lots for 
members of the Stevenson family in 1915.  Glenholm was located on Lot 4 of the subdivision (highlighted). 
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DP 18802 (1925) 
 

 

Figure 20: Subdivision plan of Lot 4 of DP 10255 (previous page) into 6 lots for Mr Russell in 1925.  
Glenholm is shown on Lot 5 of the subdivision (highlighted), which was 19 (present-day 37) Portland 
Road. 
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1.3 Historic photographs, aerials and maps  

 

 
Figure 21: Panoramic view looking east from Mount Hobson, showing houses on Portland Road (left to 
right), c.1890s.  Glenholm is circled (J. Hibbs, Sir George Grey Special Collections, Auckland Libraries, 3-
Album-61-73). 

 

 

Figure 22: (Left) Glenholm, 
viewed from the north west, 
n.d. (“Glenholm”, home of 
the J. Y. Stevenson Family, 
Portland Road, Remuera, 
Unknown photographer, PH-
NEG-C18253, Auckland 
Museum Collections).  
(Below) Close-up image.  
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Figure 23: (Above) Looking 
roughly south along Arney Road 
towards Mount Hobson showing 
the ‘Woodcroft’ residence located 
off Arney Road (right middle 
distance) and ‘Glenholm’ (centre 
distance), 1890s (Hobson Bay, 
Portland Road end, looking 
towards Mt Hobson, Unknown 
photographer, 1890s, PH-CNEG-
B8134), Auckland Museum 
Collections). 

(Left) Close-up of what is recorded 
as Glenholm.  However, in looking 
more closely, the first-floor 
windows differ from other images. 
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Figure 24: Glenholm, date unknown.  Note the decorative verandah fretwork, which was closely replicated 
during its reinstatement in 1980 (from J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980). 
 
 

 
Figure 25: Front elevation of Glenholm during the occasion of Jamesina Stevenson’s (Margaret and 
James’ daughter) wedding, 1899 (from J. H. Rose (Edited by), Diaries of Archibald Clark, 1980). 
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1904 
 

 
 

 

Figure 26: (Above) Looking north east by east 
from Mount Hobson towards Orakei Basin (left), 
showing Westbury Crescent (right foreground), 
Portland Road (left to right), Victoria Avenue 
(left to right middle distance), and Orakei road 
(further in distance), 25 July 1904.  Glenholm is 
visible in the centre of the image (H. 
Winkelmann, Sir George Grey Special 
Collections, Auckland Libraries, 1-W1020). 
 

Figure 27: (Left) Close-up of above image 
showing Glenholm. 
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1921 
 

 
 

 

Figure 28: (Above) Similar view 
looking north east from Mount 
Hobson across Remuera towards the 
Orakei Basin on 29 March 1921.  
Note the number of residences built 
since 1904 (image on previous page).  
Glenholm is just visible to the centre 
right of the image (J. D. Richardson, 
Sir George Grey Special Collections, 
Auckland Libraries, 4-4610). 
 

Figure 29: (Left) Close-up of above 
image showing Glenholm. 
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1940 
 

 

Figure 30: 1940 aerial view showing Glenholm (circled) (Auckland Council GeoMaps). 
 
 

1959 
 

 

Figure 31: 1959 aerial view showing Glenholm (circled).  From this view, the two-storey porch is visible to 
the front (north) elevation (Auckland Council GeoMaps). 
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1956 
 

 
 

 

Figure 32: (Above) 
Looking roughly north 
along Portland Road 
towards Hobson Bay, 
26 April 1956.  The 
location of Glenholm 
outlined (Whites 
Aviation Ltd: 
Photographs. Ref: WA-
41113-G.  Alexander 
Turnbull Library, 
Wellington, New 
Zealand. 
/records/30119259). 
 

Figure 33: (Left) Close-
up of Glenholm (centre), 
viewed from the south. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Heritage Studio Ltd. 

Historic Heritage Evaluation: Glenholm | FINAL  
  
 

55 

1968 
 

 
Figure 34: Aerial photograph of part of Remuera, showing a portion of Portland Road and the site of 
Glenholm (centre-left and close-up inset) in 1968 (Sir George Grey Special Collections, Auckland 
Libraries, NZ Map 7243). 
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1892 
 

 
 

 

Figure 35: (Above) Sheet 4 of a cadastral map 
of Eden County (Auckland City) in 1892, 
showing land allotments and subdivisions at that 
time (Sir George Grey Special Collections, 
Auckland Libraries, NZ Map 4658). 

Figure 36: (Left) Close-up of a portion of the 
above map showing the allotments along the 
southern portion of Portland Road.  At this time, 
Glenholm was situated on an estate that 
comprised Allotment 31 and part of Allotment 30 
(circled). 
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c.1920 
 

 
 

 

Figure 37: (Top) Map showing the properties along Portland Road and on nearby streets in c.1920.  
(Above) Close-up showing Glenholm (centre) and its subdivided estate with properties constructed on 
some of the rear lots.  Note the pencil marks that show the proposed lots for another subdivision that 
occurred in 1925 (ACC 001-308, O18, Auckland Council Archives). 
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1924 
 

 
 

 

Figure 38: (Above) Sheet 5 of a nine-
part cadastral map of the City of 
Auckland and the North Shore, 
compiled and drawn by R. C. Airey.  
This map shows a portion of Remuera 
in 1924 (Sir George Grey Special 
Collections, Auckland Libraries, NZ Map 
78). 

Figure 39: (Left) Close-up of a portion 
of the above map, showing subdivision 
of parts of original allotments 30 and 31.  
Glenholm was situated on Lot 4 of the 
subdivision (circled).   
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1952 
 

 
 

 

Figure 40: (Above) Sheet 6B of a 
cadastral map of Auckland City, 
created 1947-53.  This map shows 
the streets, lots and public 
buildings in Remuera in 1952 (Sir 
George Grey Special Collections, 
Auckland Libraries, NZ Map 3513). 
 

Figure 41: (Left) Close-up of a 
portion of the above map showing 
the subdivided lots of original 
allotments 31 and 30, and the 
subsequent subdivided lots of Lot 
4.  At this time, Glenholm occupied 
Lot 5 (circled). 
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1.4 Biography: James McCosh Clark  

The following is a biography of James McCosh Clark from the Dictionary of New Zealand 
Biography – Te Ara (Janet McCallum, ‘Clark, James McCosh’, Dictionary of New Zealand 
Biography, first published in 1993, updated October, 2017. Te Ara – the Encyclopedia of 
New Zealand, https://teara.govt.nz/en/biographies/2c18/clark-james-mccosh 
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1.5 Newspaper articles  

 
1880 

 

 
Figure 42: Newspaper article advertising the sale of the entire household 
furniture and effects of Glenholm, outlining that Mrs J. Y. Stevenson is 
leaving for Europe (Page 3 Advertisements Column 8, Auckland Star, 
Volume XI, Issue 3249, 18 December 1880, 3, Papers Past).   
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1924 
 

  

 

 

Figure 43: Newspaper advertisement of the sale by auction of Glenholm, in 1924 (Page 4 Advertisements 
Column 5, New Zealand Herald, Volume LXI, Issue 18894, 17 December 1924, 4, Papers Past).   
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1.6 Ancient Order of Foresters 

 
The following information is from the Ancient Order of Foresters, Auckland District 
Records, 1863-1978 (Auckland War Memorial Museum Library, MS-1745): 
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1.7 NZ Herald article: “A stately home” 

The following article about Glenholm was published in July 2002, during which time it 
was being advertised for sale.  The images are of poor quality. 
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Appendix 2: Architectural information 

2.1 Architectural drawings  

 
 

Pre-1910: Drainage plan 
 

 
Figure 44: Drainage plan showing the footprint of Glenholm and the existence of a wash house 
and garage (possibly added to plan later), during the occupancy of Mrs Stevenson (pre-1910), n.d. 
(361208 – General Property Document private drainage plan, Auckland Council property records: 
37 Portland Road, Remuera). 
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1926: Proposed two-storey porch 

 

 
Figure 45: Plan and part elevation showing the proposed removal of the wraparound verandah and 
replacement with a two-storey porch, 1926 (B/1982/5607 – Building Consent Plan – O/7973/06, Auckland 
Council property file: 27 Portland Road, Remuera). 
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1949: Conversion into flats 
 

 

Figure 46: Proposed plans for the conversion of the residence into flats, 1949-50 (B/1982/5607 – Building 
Consent Plan – O/7973/06, Auckland Council property file: 27 Portland Road, Remuera). 
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1980: Conversion to single residence 
 

 

Figure 47: Plans and elevations showing the works associated with converting Glenholm back to one 
residence, including restorative works such as verandah and staircase reinstatement (B/1980/4865 – 
Building Consent plan – O/32712/01, Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera). 
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1980: Conversion to single residence 
 

 

Figure 48: Detail drawings showing the proposed reinstatement of the wraparound verandah, the repair 
and/or replacement of double-hung sash windows and front entrance and the erection of a pergola 
(B/1980/4865 – Building Consent plan – O/32712/01, Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, 
Remuera). 
 

 
Figure 49: Detail drawings of the proposed reinstatement of the staircase (B/1980/4865 – Building 
Consent plan – O/32712/01, Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera). 
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1989: Floor plan 
 

 
Figure 50: Plan showing the ground floor layout of Glenholm in 1989 during which time proposals were 
submitted for the erection of a conservatory on the east elevation and modifications to the positioning and 
layout of the kitchen (B/1989/3718 – Building Consent Plan – O/1013/05, Auckland Council property file: 
37 Portland Road, Remuera).  
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2003: Small rear addition 
 

 
Figure 51: Proposed drawings showing the small addition to the rear (south) elevation and extension of 
the associated first floor deck and balustrading (R/LUC/2003/5704749 – Land Use Consent Plan, 
Auckland Council property file: 37 Portland Road). 
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2004: Alterations  
 

 
Figure 52: East and west elevations showing the proposed changes that involved the construction of a 
new conservatory, the extension of the verandah along the east elevation, and the replacement of 
windows with French doors (B/2004/6992 – Building Consent Plan – Res Alterations, Auckland Council 
property file: 37 Portland Road, Remuera). 

 
 
  



The Heritage Studio Ltd. 

Historic Heritage Evaluation: Glenholm | FINAL  
  
 

77 

Appendix 3: Photographic record 
The following photographs were taken by The Heritage Studio Limited on 17 May 2018. 
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The following photographs are from Auckland Council’s records. 
 
 

2004 
 

  
 
 

2007 
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Appendix 4: Comparative analysis – supplementary information 
 
The following documentation provides supplementary information to section 6.0 of the 
report by attempting to identify known places that can be compared to Glenholm.  The 
table identifies some of Remuera’s earliest grand homes built between the 1850s and 
1880s.  This was the time when Remuera established itself as an aristocratic suburb 
favoured by Auckland’s elite.  The table reveals that many of these early residences no 
longer exist, and those that do either have an alternative use or have experienced 
twentieth century alterations.  This is followed by a series of photographs of the 
buildings that remain on their original sites.  The buildings identified in this section are 
based on known places within the locality that were built during this early period of 
exclusivity in Remuera’s history.  A further selection of photographs show a series 
colonial buildings located within the broader Auckland region that share architectural 
similarities with Glenholm.  It is acknowledged that further targeted research leading to 
a more comprehensive comparison with other heritage places within a broader 
geographic context may yield further information.  
 
 

Remuera’s early grand residences (1850s-1880s) 
 

Name Date  
Extant (on 
original 
site)? 

In 
original 
use? 

Details 

Ellerslie House 
(Mainston Manor) 
(Figure 53) 

1853 Yes Yes 

 
Location: 4 Mainston Road 
 
Built for illustrious landowner, Robert 
Graham, Ellerslie House originally 
occupied a 565-acre farm at the junction 
of Great South and Panmure roads.89  
The estate was subdivided on several 
occasions.  The house was converted 
into three flats in 1944, and back to a 
single residence in 1985.90 
 
AUP Schedule: Category A (ID: 02487) 
 

The Tower(s) 
(Figure 54) 1855 Yes No 

 
Location: 258 Remuera Road 
 
An imposing mansion built for David 
Graham (brother of the above), The 
Tower was later acquired by prominent 
businessman and one-time Auckland 
Mayor, James McCosh Clark who 
extended the property. In 1898, the 
building became King’s College (now 
School) and currently forms part of a 
much large school complex.91 
 
AUP Schedule: The building is located 
within the extent of place of the King’s 
School Chapel – Category B (ID: 01826). 
 

                                                
89 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 49-50. 
90 Salmond Reed Architects for Auckland Council, Heritage Assessment: 4 Mainston Road, October 2012. 
91 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 50 and 230-1. 



The Heritage Studio Ltd. 

Historic Heritage Evaluation: Glenholm | FINAL  
  
 

80 

Name Date  
Extant (on 
original 
site)? 

In 
original 
use? 

Details 

Remuera Point 
(Burwood) 
 

Mid-
1850s No -- 

 
The grand residence of Frederick 
Whitaker, who later became premier, 
Remuera Point was built near present-
day Burwood Crescent.  The land was 
subdivided in 1912 into 36 lots, and in 
1983, the house was replaced by two 
houses and a townhouse.92 
 

Charleville (Melrose Hall, 
Cleveland House) 
 

1856 No -- 

 
One of the grandest Remuera homes, 
Charleville was built for Christopher 
Greenway near present-day Garden 
Road.  It was later used as the Remuera 
Ladies’ College.  Charleville was 
demolished in 1966.93 
 

Woodville 
 1856 No -- 

 
Built for Samuel Allen Wood, who owned 
the Royal Hotel and livery stables on 
Auckland’s Princes Street (site of the 
Northern Club), Woodville occupied nine 
acres of land at the bottom of Arney 
Road.  The house was replaced by a 
modern residence in the late-1990s.94 
 

The Priory 
 1857 No -- 

 
Located on the south side of Remuera 
Road and west of St Mark’s Anglican 
Church, The Priory was a gabled house 
built for Rev. George Kingdon within a 
small garden and among open 
paddocks.  It was demolished in 1970.95 
 

Waimarama 
 c.1860 No -- 

 
Waimarama stood at the top of what 
became Arney Road and was owned by 
Chief Justice, George Alfred Arney.  The 
large two-storey timber house, which 
occupied 36 acres of land was later 
purchased by Kate McCosh Clark 
(James McCosh Clark’s widow) who 
lived there until her death in 1927.  The 
house was later demolished and land 
subdivided.96 
 

                                                
92 Ibid., 228-9. 
93 Ibid., 228. 
94 Ibid., 231. 
95 Ibid. 
96 Ibid. 
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Name Date  
Extant (on 
original 
site)? 

In 
original 
use? 

Details 

Oaklands (Cotter House) 
(Figure 55) c.1862 Yes No 

 
Location: 2 St Vincent Avenue 
 
Wealthy stockbroker and philanthropist, 
Joseph Newman owned Oaklands, a 
grand brick and concrete Gothic revival 
style residence.  It was later purchased 
by the Cotter family who subdivided the 
extensive farm.  The residence 
underwent alterations and additions, 
serving for a time as a small school in 
the 1930s and converted into flats in the 
1950s.  It was restored in 1995 and is 
currently in use as a boutique hotel.97 
 
AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01872) 
 

Dunholme 
 1870s No -- 

 
Built for Samuel Morrin as his residence, 
Dunholme later became a theological 
college, a convalescent home and then a 
boarding house.  It was destroyed by fire 
in 1949.98 
 

Roselle (Wilson House) 
(Figure 56) 1879 Yes No 

 
Location: 82-84 Shore Road 
 
Once regarded as one of the stateliest 
homes in Auckland, Roselle was built on 
14-acres of land for Joseph Liston 
Wilson.  The two-storey plastered brick 
Italianate house featured verandahs, bay 
windows and an observation tower.  In 
the 1950s, it was gifted to the St 
Kentigern Trust Board and became the 
St Kentigern (primary) school for boys.99  
The tower was subsequently removed 
and large-scale reconstruction work 
carried out in the late-1970s.100 
 
AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01843)  
 

Waitaramoa (Mitchelson 
House) 
(Figure 57) 

c.1882 Yes No 

 
Location: 235-237 Victoria Avenue 
 
Waitaramoa was the home of Sir Edwin 
Mitchelson and was once described as 
one of the finest houses in the district.  It 
was purchased by the Sisters of the 
Sacred Heart in 1909 for their convent 
and school and has undergone changes.  
It remains part of the larger school 
complex known as Baradene College.101 
 
AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01897) 
HNZPT List: Category B (No. 551) 

                                                
97 Ibid., 234. 
98 Ibid., 230. 
99 Ibid., 245. 
100 Auckland Council heritage property records: 82-84 Shore Road, Remuera. 
101 Jenny Carlyon and Diana Morrow, 2011, 50 and 245. 
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Name Date  
Extant (on 
original 
site)? 

In 
original 
use? 

Details 

Buckland House 
 1884 No -- 

 
Buckland House was built in St Vincent 
Avenue for the Buckland family.  It 
changed hands a few times during the 
twentieth century, during which time two 
wings were added.  In 1973, the house 
was purchased by Fletchers and James 
Wallace and relocated to the Museum of 
Transport and Technology (MOTAT).102  
 

Stradcona 
 1885 No -- 

 
An imposing timber residence with tower 
on Portland Road, Stradcona was built 
for consultant engineer, William Ware.  
The extensive landholding, which 
incorporated several contiguous lots, 
was subdivided on Ware’s death in 1923, 
leaving house on only half an acre of 
land.  Stradcona was demolished in the 
late-1960s and a block of concrete flats – 
‘Portland Heights’ – took its place.103  
 

The Whare (Wharema) 
(Figure 58) 1886 Yes Yes 

 
Location: 34 Portland Road 
 
The Whare was built for the inaugural 
director of Elam School of Art, Edward 
Payton and his wife, Emily.  The grand 
timber residence with wraparound 
verandahs was converted into a 
boarding house in the 1960s, then into 
four flats.  In the 1980s, the house was 
restored to a single residence.104 
 
AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01814) 
HNZPT List: Category B (No. 7695) 
 

 
Woodcroft 
(Figure 59) 

c.1888 Yes Yes 

 
Location: 99 Arney Road 
 
The 13-roomed two-storey timber 
residence was built for the Rev Dr John 
Kinder following his resignation from St 
John’s College.  Designed in the 
Victorian Italianate style, the building 
featured a bay window, ground floor 
return verandah and ballustraded 
parapets.  The grand house remained in 
the Kinder family until 1940, and 
although the property has been 
subdivided over the years, its garden 
reputedly retains many of the trees 
planted by Kinder.105 
 

 
 

                                                
102 Ibid., 233. 
103 Ibid., 240. 
104 Ibid. 
105 Ibid., 237-9. 
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Extant buildings 
 

 

Ellerslie House (Mainston Manor) (1853) 
 

 

Figure 53: Ellerslie House, 2007 (Auckland Council records). 
 

 

The Tower (now part of King’s School) (1855) 
 

 

Figure 54: The Tower, 2015 (Auckland Council records). 
 

 

Oaklands (Cotter House) (c.1862) 
 

 

Figure 55: Oaklands, 2007 (Auckland Council records). 
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Roselle (Wilson House) (1879) 
(now part of St Kentigern School)  

 

 

Figure 56: Roselle, 2007 (Auckland Council records). 

 
 

Waitaramoa (Mitchelson House) (c.1882) 
(now part of Baradene College) 

 

 
Figure 57: Waitaramoa, 2013 (Remuera Heritage). 

 
 

The Whare (Wharema) (1886) 
 

 
Figure 58: The Whare, 2012 (Auckland Council records). 
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Woodcroft (c.1888) 
 

 
Figure 59: Woodcroft, c.1900s (Woodcroft House, Arney Road, 

Remuera, Auckland. Walsh, Philip, 1843-1914: Photograph albums. 
Ref: 1/2-111005-F. Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, New 

Zealand. /records/22814650) 

 
 
 
 

Architectural comparisons 
 

 

Glen Orchard (c.1850-60s) 
91 St Heliers Bay Road, St Heliers 

 

 

Figure 60: Glen Orchard, c.1960-79 (Sir George Grey Special 
Collections, Auckland Libraries, 435-B8-24A). 

 

AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01855) 
HNZPT List: Category 2 (No. 581) 
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Burrows House (c.1869-70) 
4 Burrows Avenue, Parnell 

 

 
Figure 61: Burrows House, c.1960-79 (Sir George Grey Special 

Collections, Auckland Libraries, 435-B5-175A). 
 

AUP Schedule: Category B (ID: 01615) 
HNZPT List: Category 2 (No. 596) 

 

 
 

 

Penrose Farm House (1860s or 1885) 
79 Penrose Road, Penrose 

 

 
Figure 62: Penrose Farm House, June 1986 (Sir George Grey Special 

Collections, Auckland Libraries, 1052-E10-36). 
 

AUP Schedule: Category A (ID: 01796) 
HNZPT List: Category 2 (No. 519) 
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